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To one reader however it seems that he has made too much
of the Hindu-Sikh, Muslim riots in the Panjab during the year
1924-1932 to which he devotes twenty one pages. Thirty two
pages have been devoted to the terrorist Movement (The Babar
Akalis) in the twenties.

In the thirties he discusses the Communal Award at large
emphasising however the special demands of the Sikhs. This is
followed by an account of the Civil Disobedience Movement in
the Panjab 1930-1934. Here however he could have laid more
emphasis on what happened in the Panjab rather than on events
of all India importance.

There is a very valuable chapter as the '‘Canalization of the
Panjab’. Story of the Panjab States 1849-1947 is told elsewhere
covering some eighty pages. Here at times, depending upon the
authorities used, Dr. Nijjar seems to be pro-Maharajas and
elsewhere favouring the struggle of the people of the states
which he describes at length.

Another very valuable feature of the work is the chapter
on the Kisan and the Muzara Movement in States from 1935
onwards. The chapter on the Panjab Civil Code gives us infor-
mation not usually found in historical works. Not being a law-
yer himself, it is not surprising that Dr. Nijjar seems sometimes
to adopt easily the view of the early Panjab administrators
whose word was law which nobody—not even a lawyer—could
ever anticipate. He forgets that those apostles of personal rule
were apt to go astray. Lord Minto had estimated that in the
Canal Colonies alone the Colony Admniistrators had realized
in six years twenty lakhs from the cultivators by way of fines
which they had no right to extract.

Dr. Nijjar traces the history of the demands of the Sikhs
from separate representation with weightage—as the Muslims
had got—to ‘Khalistan Scheme’ when a section of the Sikhs
demanded three independent Sikh States, one from Jamuna to
Jamrood, second, Nander State in Hyderabad third, Patna State,
he has described the Khaksar movement as well stressing the
danger they represented to the peace of the Panjab. His des-
cription of the partition of the country and emergence of Pakis-
tan touches the conditions in the Panjab as well. It is interesting
to find that though he describes both the Sikh and Muslim
preparation for a violent struggle early in 1947, he had not a
word to say, probably roughly, about the alleged part that the
Jan Sangh is said to have played at this time.
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He brings his story to an end by citing a declaration of
Master Tara Singh, on 4th March 1947 at Lahore “The time has
come when the might of sword alone shall rule. One hundred
years from today our yellow flags were flying on the fort of
Lahore, the same flag shall fly again.”

We recommend the study of this work to all interested in
the history of the Panjab. They are likely to find that at places
it adds to their knowledge, at others it refreshes the memory
of those who lived through these strenuous times. In the end we
must congratulate Dr. Nijjar for his laborious task in writing
a detailed account of the British Panjab, not hitherto available
in one place anywhere else.

Shri Ram Sharma
Dzrector

Pr oyect Swami Dayanand & His Works
Panjab University
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PREFACE

The book is primarily designed to fulfil a long-standing
need of the Degree and the Post-graduate students of the Pan-
jab History on the period from 1849-1947. They have always
felt greatly handicapped for want of proper and comprehensive
material put with a detached objectivity so essential for a his-
torian. Keeping in view the dire need of the students and the
teachers, this book has been brought out after many years of
research. Almost all the contemporary sources have been con-
sulted to make the book authentic.

This is for the first time that this period has been explored
in detail and systematically. Emphasis has been laid to touch
every aspect of this period. This book is divided into XIX
chapters. The main contents of this work can be summarised as
below:—

Geography of the Panjab, Panjab at the advent of British-
ers, Panjab Under Lawrences, Political history of the Panjab

from 1849-1947 North-West Frontier & the British Government,
Religious and Political Movements e.g. the Kukas, the Koma-
gata Maru, Jallianwala Bagh, Nankana Holocaust, the Jaito
Morcha, Guru-Ka-Bagh, Panja Sahib, and Babar Akalis, Riasti
Parja Mandal, the Khaksars, Agrarian agitations, the Legisla-
tion, the Civil administration, Social and Economic life of the
Panjab from time to time, the Singh, Sabha, S5.G.P.C. the revo-
lutionaries of the Panjab, Various riots, Canalisation of the Pan-
jab, the Panjab States with the role of their rulers in the
Panjab History Muzara Movements, the Panjab Civil Code, the
provincial autonomy, the Unionist-Ministry, and Partition of
the Panjab.

Being a detailed study, it has become voluminous. There-
fore, it has been thought proper to publish it in three volumes.

The author will welcome suggestions for further improvement
of the work.

28-D, Nabha Gate . Bakhshish Singh Nijjar
Patiala
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CANALISATION OF THE PANJAB 1849-1947

Opening of canals in the Panjab is the greatest achievement
of the British rule, the magnificent system of irrigation canals
which it has given to this province. It{s great alluvial plain tra-
versed by large rivers drawing an unfailing supply of water from
the Himalayan snows afforded an ideal field for the labours
of the canal engineer. The vastness of the arid areas which with-
out irrigation yielded no crops at all or only cheap millets and
pulses made his works of inestimable benefit to the people and
source of income to the State.

THE WESTERN JAMANA CANAL |
Early History '

The Western Jamoana Canal was an important perenaial
irrigation works in the Panjab, taking off from the west bank of
the river Jamana. It irrigates Ambala, Karnal, Hissar, Rohtak,
and Delhi districts, and parts of the erstwhile Patiala and Jind
States. It is by far the oldest of the great canals in the Panjab,
and irrigated the lands in 1357, when Feroze Tughlaqg utilized
the torrent-bed now known as Chautang to conduct water to
the royal gardens at Hissar and Hansi. This was little more than
a monsoon supply-channel, and after about a hundred years
water ceased to flow farther than the lands of Kaithal.

Under the Mughals

In 1568, Emperor Akbar re-excavated the works of Feroze
Tughlag and brought a supply from the Jamana and the Somb
into the Chautang, and so on to Hansi and Hissar.! This was un-
doubtedly a perennial canal, as is testified by the ancient bridges

1. The Wealth & Wellare of the Panjab-Calvert, p. 120.

/
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9 PANJAB UNDER THE BRITISH RULE

at Karnal and Safidon, and the complete set of water-courses
with which the canal was provided, besides the original sand
or working plan of the canal which is still in existence.

Jamana was dammed up annually about 14 miles below the
present headworks of the canal, and the water led along the
drainage line at the foot of the highland through Panipat and
Sonepat to Delhi. Drainages and escapes were fairly well pro-
vided 1or; and the Pulchaddar aqueduct, which took the canal
across the Najafgarh lake drain near Delhi, was, for the time,
a great engineering teat, and was retained, with slight modifica-
tions, when the branch was reopened in 1819. The net revenue

from the canal was reckoned equal to the maintenance of 12,000
horses. '

After Aurangzeb

With the decline of the Mughal empire the up-keep of this
canal was no longer attended to. The water ceased to reach
Hansi and Hissar in 1707, the flow on Feroze Tughlag’s line at
Safidon ceased in 1720. The Delhi branch ceased to flow in 1753-
60. The Delhi branch was re-opened in 1819 by the British and
the Hansi branch in 1825, The alignment of the canal was, how-
ever, by no means satisfactory. As early as 1846 it was noticed
that the concentrated irrigation, the defective drainage of the
country, all contributed to the rapid deterioration of the soil and
the decline in the health of the people. Saline efforescence was
rapnidly spreading, and the innabitants of the waterlogged area
were affected with chronic disorders of the liver and spleen.

Between 1870 and 1682 various remodelling schemes were
sanctioned, with the object ol securing increased control over
the supply and its distribution. Greater facilities for navigation
and improved drainage had resulted in the complete disappear-
ance of the swamps and accumulations of water and a most
marked improvement in the health of the people. The Sirsa
branch was sanctioned in 1888, and this and subsequent minor
extensions had largely increased the irrigation capacity of the
canal. No less than 200,000 acres were rendered secure 1in

1896-97 by the Sirsa branch alone.?®

ey B S —

2. Panjab Administration Report 1896-97, p. 198.
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CANALISATION OF THE PANJAB 3

Tajewala Headworks

The head of the Jamana Western Canal is at Tajewala in
Ambala District about one and a half miles from the point
where the river emerges from the lower hills. The river is here
crossed by a weir, 1,700 feet in length, flanked at each end by
a scouring sluice and head regulator for the Eastern Jamana Ca-

nal on the right, the full capacities authorised bemg respectively
1,300 and 6,380 cubic feet per second.’

Maximum Discharge

The Western Jamana Canal has a maximum discharge. For
the first 14 miles of its course the canal runs almost entirely
to the old west branch of the Jamana river. It then affects a
junction with the Somb river, a masonry dam across which
holds up the combined streams and forces them into the canal
head at Dadupur, which is provided with a regulator at a short
distance below. After a farther course of about 38 miles, chief-
ly in natural channels, there is at Indri regulator with a lock

and escape head, where the canal divides into the Sirsa branch
and the new main line.*

Sirsa Branch .

The Sirsa branch has a capacity of 2,000 cubic feet per
second, and runs for 115 miles, watering the arid tract of the
country between Indri and Sirsa. Some 31 miles farther on, the
main line bifurcates into the Hansi and New Delhi branches.
The Hansi branch has a length of 47 miles and a discharge of
nearly 2,000 cubic feet a second, and the Butana branch with a
capacity of 700 cubic feet a second taken off from it. The New
Delhi branch has a capacity of 1,750 cubic feet a second and a
length of 74 miles to the point where it meets the Okhla navi-
gation canal at Delhi.

The total length of main canal and branches is 343 miles,
of distributaries (major and minor) 1,797 miles; of drains 657
miles; of escapes 76 miles, and mill channels 9 miles. The total
area commanded by the canal is 4,000 square miles, of whnich
3,300 square miles are cultivable. The average area of crops

e e B i S————

2. Pan:ab Administration Report 1897-93, p. 226.
4. Ambala District Gazetieer, p. 12.
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4 PANJAB UNDER THE BRITISH RULE

irrigated during the twenty years ending 1894-95 was 529 square.
miles, which rose in the four years ending 1903-04 to an average
of 944 square miles; and the work was estimated to irrigate al-
together 1,259 square miles. The capital outlay to the end of
March, 1904 (excluding a contribution of eleven and a half lakhs
from the Patiala State), was 172.7 lakhs. The gross revenue for
the three years ending March, 1904, averaged 23 lakhs, and the
net revenue, atter paying all interest charges and working ex-
penses, 7.6 lakhs, or 4.4 per cent on the capital outlay. The main

line and the New Delhi branch are navigable from the head-
works to Delhi.’

The Hansi Branch

The Hansi® branch is navigable to where it meets the Sou-
thern Panjab Railway at Hansi. The expenditure on the provi-
sion for navigation is estimated at 16 lakhs; and, although near
Delhi there is a certain amount of boat traffic, and timber is
largely rafted down the canal, this large expenditure had prov-
ed hitherto to financial loss, and the combination of navigation
with irrigation a failure. There were flour-mills at several of
the falls; but the flour and the other miils at Delhi, which at
one time were worked advantageously.’

SIRHIND CANAL

The Sirhind Canal weir is at Rupar, where the Satluj emer-
ges from the Shivalik Hills. It is a perennial canal, taking oft
from the Satluj, and irrigating the high land betweeen the Sat-
luj on the north-west and the Patiala and Ghaggar streams on
the south-east, and extending as far south as the borders of
Rajasthan, Bahawalpur, and the Bikaner State. The canal was
constructed by the British Government, in association with the
erstwhile Patiala, Nabha and Jind States. The preliminary sur-
vey work was begun in 1867, and the canal was formally open-
ed in 1882, though irrigation did not commence until 1883. The ™

5. Ambala District Gazetteer, p. 12.

6. Punjab Administration Report 1897-98, p.223.
Hissar District Gazetteer, pp. 142-143.

7. Panjab Administration Report 1896-97, pp. 198-200.
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CANALISATION OF THE PANJAB 5

area commanded by the canal was 8,320 square miles, of which
4,027 were in British territory, and the remainder in the erst-
while Patiala, Nabha, Jind, Faridkot and Kalsia States. The
headworks are at the town of Rupar,® where the Satluj issues
from the Shivalik Hills into the plains.”

A weir 2,370 feet long crosses the river from bank to bank,
having 12 arched undersluices each of 20 feet span. Extending
up-stream on the east bank is the canal head regulator, with 13
arched openings of 21 feet span. About 500 feet farther up the
river there is the lock channel head, to admit of navigation be-
tween the river and canal. The crest of the weir is seven and
a half feet higher than the canal-bed, and along it extends a line
of 586 falling shutters 6 ieet high. When these are raised and
the undersluices closed, the whole of the river supply is turned
into the canal, and this is usually the case from early in Octo-
ber to the end of April.

Area Irrigated

The main canal has for 30 miles a bed-width of 200 feet,
with a depth of eleven and a half and could carry 8,000 cubic
feet per second. At the 39th mile it is divided into two large bran-
ches, the combined branch on the west and the Patiala feeder
on the east. The former, which had a bed-width of 136 feet and
a capacity of 5,200 cubic feet per second, soon divided again into
two branches. The northern of those, the Abohar branch, ran
parallel to the Satluj through Ludhiana and Ferozepore Dis-
tricts, terminating after a course of 126 miles at the town of
Govindgarh. The southern of Bhatinda branch ran through Lu-
dhiana District and Patiala territory, with a length of 100
miles.!” _ '

The irrigation irom these two branches was mainly in Bri-
tish territory, and the administration was entirely under the
British Government, which retained all the revenue derived
from them. They received between them 64 per cent of the
supply of the main line. The Patiala feeder the eastern of the

" —

8. Panjab N.W.F.P. & Kashmir-Douie, p. 136.
. Phulkian States Gazetteer, p. 105.
0. Phulkian States Gazetteer, pp. 106-107.
Panjab Administration Report 1897-1898, p. 225.

1

Digitized by Panjab Digital Library | www.panjabdigilib.org



6 PANJAB UNDER THE BRITISH RULE

two large branches into which the main line bifurcated, ran to
the town of Patiala, having a bed-width of 75 feet, and a capa-
city of 3,000 cubic feet per second. On its way it gave off to the
south the three native State branches, the Kotla (94 miles long),
the Ghaggar (51 miles), and the Choa (26 miles). Those three
branches irrigated almost exclusively the non-British territory.
The distributaries and irrigation arrangements were under the
erstwhile Phulkian States; who received the whole of the canal
revenue. But the Patiala feeder and the branches were main-
tained by an officer of the Canal Department as agent for the
States, who distributed the water according to a fixed allotment,

Patiala taking 83 per cent, Nabha 9 per cent and Jind @8 per
cent.'!

The Distributaries

The distributaries were constructed so as to penetrate the
border of every irrigated village, and thus to save the people
the expense of making long water-courses and the difficulty
of taking them through the land of other wvillages. This
system, though expensive to construct and maintain, had been
repaid by the rapidity with which irrigation had spread over the
Panjab. As during the cold season the whole of the river sup-
ply was turned into the canal, it was necessary to provide a sub-
stitute on the canal for the river navigation thus closed.

Accordingly the main line, the combined branch, and 48
miles of the Abohar branch were provided with locks at the
falls; and from the 48th mile of the Abohar branch a special
navigation canal to the Satluj near Ferozepore, 47 miles long,
was constructed with a branch 4 miles long to Ferozepore. The
Patiala feeder was also made navigational along the branches,
though the main line from Ropar to the North-Western Rail-
way was much used, and brought down a considerable amount
of timber from the hills.

Flour Mills

There were 25 flour-mills at different falls along the bran-
ches. The greater part of the main line and branches was bor-

E—— Sy - S S e S I oy S —

11. Fhulkian Slates Gazeticer, pp. 105-108.
12. Panjab Administration Repo-ts 1896-97, pp. 202-20s.
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CANALISATION OF THE PANJAB 7

dered by rows ot trees, and the strip of land (reserved for the
spoil or borrow pits) was generally covered with plantations. A
telegraph line extended from the canal head down the main
line, the two British branches, the Patiala feeder, and part of
the longer native States branches. Since 1896-97 the area irri-
gated had in only one year fallen below 1,560 square miles; the
greatest area irrigated was 2,142 square miles in 1899-1900, of
which 1,452 were in British territory. The total cost of construc-
tion to the end of 1903-04 had beeen 388.7 lakhs, of which 247.7
lakhs was paid by the Government, and 141 lakhs by the three
Phulkian States. Of the cost of the headworks and main line,
the Government paid 64 per cent, and the Phulkian States con-
tributed 36 per cent. The Government defrayed the whole cost
of the British branches, and the Native States that of their

branches. The charges for annual maintenance were divided in
the same way."

The Revenue

The gross revenue on the DBritish branches averaged about
28 lakhs, and the net revenue 20 lakhs. On the Native States
branches the gross revenue averaged about 12.5 lakhs and the
net revenue about 7 lakhs. The return on the British capital
outlay was as high as 10.8 per cent, in 1897-98 and averaged 8
per cent during the six years ending 1902-03. On the Native
States capital outlay the return for those <ix years averaged 5.3
per cent. This canal was then not only a successful commercial
scheme paying a handsome profit, but its advantages in vears
of drought were incalculable. It saved from famine a large
tract of the Panjab and also provided food for exportation. The
tract of country irrigated was then traversed in all directions by

several different lines of railway, some of which would not have
been required if no canal was in existence.!

BARI DOAB CANAL

The Bari Doab Canal is a perennial irrigation canal in the
Panjab, taking off from the left bank of the Ravi and watering

A

13. Phullrian States Gazetteer, pp. 106-103.
14, Panjab Administration Reports 1897-1898, pp. 226-227.
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3 PANJAB UNDER THE BRITISH RULE

the districts of Gurdaspur, Amritsar, and Lanore in the Bari
Doab or tract of country between the Beas and the Ravi. The
present undertaking originated in a project ifor the improve-
ment of an older work, the Hasli canal, constructed about
the year 1633 by Ali Mardan Khan, the famous engineer of em-
peror Shahjahan.!> After the occupation of Lahore in 1846, Ma-

jor Napier turned his attention at once to this project, and set
on foot for the necessary surveys.

Progress Interrupted

The progress of the work was interrupted by the outbreak
of the second Anglo-Sikh War. After annexation of the province
in 1849, the work was pressed on, because the immediate con-
struction of the canal was regarded as almost a matter of poli-
tical necessity to provide employment for the disbanded Sikh
soldiers, who, having their homes in the centre of the tract,
would otherwise had little encouragement to turn to agricul-
ture. The zlignment of the Hasli canal proved on examination
to be so defective that the officers in charge decided upon the
adoption of an entirely independent line, parts, only oi the ori-
ginal channel being utilized as distributaries.

Irrigation Started

Irrigation began in 1860-61, but the present permanent weir
and other regulating headworks were not completed till after
1875. The headworks were at the village ot Madhopur in Gur-
daspur district, where the river is crossed by a weir of 2,700
feet long. The canal was capable of carrying 6,500 cubic feet
per second. The highest average supply in the hot season was
4 850, while in the cold season it varied from 1,270 to 2,170 cubic
feet per second. The main line terminated at its 31st mile, there
separating into the Kasur and main hranches.

The Kasur branch 7 miles lower down gave ofi the Sobraon
branch, and the main branch after 25 miles gave off the Lahore
branch, the four branches following the crest of the ridge into
which the tract was divided by the natural drainage. The total
length of the main and branch canals was 369 miles, and there
were 1,591 miles of distributaries from which water was

15. Gurdaspur District Gazetteer, p. 16.
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CANALISATION OF THE PANJAB 9

brought upon the fields by means of water-courses constructed
and maintained by the cultivators. The canal was not navigable.
The rainfall was greatest in the upper part of the system, which
had necessitated a special system of irrigation in Gurdaspur
district and in the portion of Amritsar district north of the
North-Western Railway on the Kasur and Sobraon branches.!®
In that tract the distributaries were closed during the cold
season after a watering had been given for snowing the spring
crops, the winter rains with some help from wells being suffi-
cient to mature those crops. The water thus set free had been
utilized in extending irrigation in the driest part of Lahore dis-
trict, where bordered on Montgomery—a tract for which it
would otherwise had been impossible to provide a perennial
supply. The gross area commanded by the canal was 2,710
square miles in Gurdaspur, Amritsar, and Lahore Districts.

Area Irrigated

The lower portion of the Doab in Montgomery and Multan
was not irrigated, as there was not sufficient water available in
the Ravi during the winter. The area irrigated was 297 square
miles in 1860, 677 square miles in 1880-81, 1,346 square miles
in 1900-01, ana 1,464 square miles in 1903-04. The total capital
expenditure (exclusive of interest) up to the end of 1903-04 was
197 lakhs. The gross income for that year was about 33 lakhs,
or, inclusive of the increase of land revenue due to irrigation
(which was credited to the canal in the accounts), 36 lakhs. The
working expenses amounted to 11 lakhs, leaving a net profit of
25 lakhs, or 12.68 per cent, on the capital outlay.!’

The Lower Chenab Canal : Formerly A Desolate Region

The Lower Chenab Canal is a perennial canal in the Panjab,
taking off from the left bank of the Chenab river and watering
the tract between it and the Ravi. The greatest part of this area
was before the introduction of irrigation a desolate region, un-
peopled except for a race of pastoral nomads known as Janglis.
The land was for the most part Government waste, and was thus
adapted for colonization on a scale. The original work was

L

16. Panlab Administration Report 1887-1888, pp. 122-123.
17. Panjab Administration Report 1897-1898 p. 225.
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10 ,.- PANJAB UNDER THE BRITISH RULE

desighed as a small inundation canal and opened as such in
1887, but in 1889 it was decided to convert it into a perenmal
canal of the first magnitude.'®

Khanki Headworks

The headworks of the canal are at Khanki, a village in
Gujranwala district, 8 miles below Wazirabad. Here there is a
weir across the river, by which the supply to the canal was
regulated and controlled. The main line of the canal had a bed-
width of 250 feet, and had been run with a depth of about 11
feet and a discharge of 11,000 cubic feet per second. This weir
was commenced in 1890 and completed in 1892. The largest
branch of the canal, the Gugera, carrying about one-half of the
total supply, took oftf from the left bank of the main line at the
28th mile. It had a length of 55 miles and then bifurcated into
two subsidiary branches, the Gugera Lower and the Buralla,
with lengths of 77 and 45 miles respectively.

The Kot Nikka Branch

On the right bank, not far from the same off-take was the
Kot Nikka branch with a length of 18 miles. The extreme length
of the main line was 40 miles, and it then divided into the Jhang,
Rakt, and Miani Ali branches. The Jhang was the second largest
branch of the system, and carried about 3,000 cubic feet per
second. Its length was about 62 miles, before it bifurcated into
Jhang Lower (38 miles) and the Bhowana seven and a hali miles
long. The length of the Rakh and Mian Al: were 95 and 27 miles
respectively. The total length of the main channels was 425
miles. For the distribution of the water-supply from the
branches to the watercourses which directly irrigated the land
there were, at the end of 1903-04, 2,323 miles of distributaries;
and for the villages colonized by Government there had been
constructed about 11,000 miles of water courses.'”

Area Irrigated
The total area commanded by the canal at the end of 1903-04

e B e S ey

18. Panjab Administration Report.
19. Panjab Administration Report 1901-1902, pp. 133-134.
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CANALISATION OF THE PANJAB 11

was 9,299 square miles in Gujranwala, Lahore, Jhang, and Mont-
gomery District, of which 3,098 square miles were irrigated, and
area which was capable of substantial increase. The total area
of Government waste in the Doab was about 3,817 square miles,
of which 2,828 square miles of land commanded by the canal
had been allotted by the end of 1903-04.-°

Categories of the Grantees

The grantees were divided into three classes (1) Capitalists,
(2) Yeoman, and (3) Peasants. The greatest part of the land had
been distributed to peasants, who were by far the most satis-
factory tenants. For the purpose of allotment the whole of the
Government waste had been divided into squares, the side of
each square being 1,100 feet and the area about 28 acres. A pea-
cant’s grant consisted of from one-half of three squares, a yeo-
man’s of four or five and a capitalist’s of any number from five
to twenty or more. Each settler was practically granted water
for the annual irrigation of a certain percentage of the holding.

Proprietory Rights Retained by the Government

The Government retained the proprietory rights in the land,
and the colonists were its tenants, the peasants for a term of
years, the yeomen with right of continued occupancy so long as
they pay their assessment, while the capitalists had also the
right to purchase proprietory rights in their tenancy after the
lapse of a certain period. There were also tenures which carried
the liability to provide a certain number of camels for military
service. For the purpose of distributing the land and of settling
the colonists in villages, a special Colonization Officer was ap-
pointed with head-quarters at Lyallpur. There were 1,423 vil-
lages in 1903-04, the average size being about 50 squares or 1,400
acres. The population of the colony at the Census of 1901 was
782,690, and ultimately reached two and a half millions. A rail-
way for the transport for the produce was constructed, running
the whole length of the Doab such as from Wazirabad to Khane-
wal, and several feeder-lines.

A Large Revenue
The canal earned a large revenue even while under cons-

20. Gujranwala District Gazetiteer, pp. 117-118.
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truction, while the profits in 1903-04 amounted to 21! per cent
on the capital invested. The gross and net revenue derived there-
from in that year amounted to about 84 and 66 lakhs respec-
tively. By 1913 the net revenue was considerably increased. The
value of the crops raised in a year was estimated to rise to 650
lakhs. The canal had thus not only enormously relieved the
pressure of population in the congested disiricts of the Panjab,
but had proved a most remunerative investment, besides adding
largely to the general wealth of the country. An extensive tele-
graph system ran from the head of tne canal down its main
line and branches, and along some of its larger distributaries,
thus facilitating rapid regulation of supply.?!

THE LOWER JHELUM CANAL

The Lower Jhelum Canal is a perennial irrigation work in
the Panjab. It was opened on October 30, 1901. It was taken off
from the left bank of the Jhelum and is supplying perennial
irrigation to the whole of the country lving between the Jhelum
and Chanab rivers, west of a line joining the town of Maini on
the Jhelum with Pindi Bhattian on the Chanab. The head of
the canal is near the village of Mong Rasul in Gujarat District.
The river was dammed by a weir, 4,100 feet long, and a regu-
lator across the head of the canal took the form of a bridge of
8 spans of twenty four and a half feet each. The main line had
a bed-width of 140 feet and had running full a depth of 7.5
feet, and a discharge of 3,800 cubic feet per second.?

The Shahpur Branch

The Shahpur branch took off at about the 28th mile of the
main line. This branch had been designed to take up the irriga-
tion performed in Shahpur District bv the Imperial, Provincial,
and privately owned inundation canals. After a course of 39
miles, in which it gradually approached the centre of the high-
lands of the Doab, the canal bifurcated into two main branches,

21. Panjab Administration Report 1897-98 pp. 227-228.
Labour District Gazetteer, pp. 129-131.
Gujiranwala District Gazetteer, p. 117.

22. Panjab Administration Report 1901-1902, p. 134.
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watering the northern and southern portions of the Doab res-
pectively. The total length of the main line and main branches
was about 167 miles, and about 960 miles of distributing chan-
nels was constructed.®

Area Irrigated

The canal protected an area of 2,400 square miles, and
irrigated annually about 1,200 square miles. Of 2,400 square
miles protecied, about 850 were Government waste, which it
was intended to turn into an immense horse-breeding colony
for the supply of remounts to the Indian Army. For this purpose
the greatest portion had been leased out to colonists on the
condition of their keeping an approved brood mare, and other
areas had been reserved for public and private brecding estab-
lishments and horse runs. The work of colonization was under an
Officer of the Indian Civil Service, who had his head-quarters
at Sargodha then in Shahpur district. The land had been divid-
ed into squares ol nearly 28 acres each, and one brood mare
had to be maintained for every two and a half squares. A rail-
way had been constructed from Malakwal on the Sind-Sagar
line to Shorkot on the Lyallpur-Khanewazal line, affording faci-
lities for the immigration of colonists and the export of produce.-

Precautions Against Waterlogging

Elaborate precautions were taken to prevent water-logging
of the soil by over-irrigation. The depth at which spring-water
was found below the surface of the ground was carefully ob-
served over the whole of the commanded area, and the country
was divided into three zones according to those depths. Where
the snring level was 40 feet or more below the surface, 56 per
cent of the gross area commanded was irrigated; where the
depth lay between 25 and 40 feet, 40 per cent of the area had
been irrigated; and where the water was nearer to the surface
than 25 feet, only 25 per cent was allowed perennial irrigation,
and powers had been reserved to reduce those supplies if they
could be found to be in excess of requirements. On the Shahpur

e S ——

25. Shahpur District Gazetteer, pp. 192-193.
24. Shahpur District Gazetteer, pp. 194-195.
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branch 50 per cent, of the area was irrigated.®

Shahpur Inundation Canals

The Shahpur inundation canals is a system of inundation
canals, fed from the Jhelum river and mainly situated in Shah-
pur District. About sixteen of them were owned by private
persons and siX by Government. Of the latter three were classed
as Imperial and two as Provincial, while one, the Pind Dadan
Khan Canal in Jhelum district, had been made over to the
Municipal Committee of Pind Dadan Khan for management.
The three Imperial canals lay wholly in the Shahpur tahsil,
and were developments of a canal dug in 1864 by Colonel Sir
Willian Davies, to supply water to the civil station of Shahpur.*

In 1870 Government acquired this canal and added two new
canals. The Imperial canals commanded an area of 105 square
miles and irrigated fifty square miles a year on an average,
yielding a net revenue of Rs. fifty thousand, or 24 per cent on
the capital outlay. Of the two Provincial canals the largest was
the Raniwah, and old native canals which had tallen into dis-
use and was reopened in 1870-71. It commanded 72 square miles
in the Bhera tehsil and irrigated 30 square miles annually,
yielding a net revenue of Rs. 11,000. It had extinguished its
capital cost and yielded a net profit of 4.1 lakhs to Government.
The Corbynwah, constructed in 1879," irrigated about 4,500
acres, mostly grass lands, in the Kaushab tahsil on the right
bank of the Jhelum.#®

Area Irrigated

1 The Pind Dadan Khan Canal did not pay expenses, but it
supplied the town with sweet water. It performed a small
amount of irrigation as well, the area irrigated in 1904-05- hav-
ing been 395 acres. The private canals had a total length of about
227 miles and irrigates 87 square miles. Many of them were old

25. Panjab Administration Report, 1919-1320, p. 99.
Jhelum District Gazetteer, pp. 171-172.

26. Panjab Administration Report 1869-1870, pp. 76-77.

27. Panjab Administration Report 1879-1880 pp. 123-124.

28. Panjab Administration Report 1901-1902, pp. 194-196.
Jheium District Gazetteer, pp. 171-172.

29. Pan)ab Administration Report 1904-1905, pp. 34-35.
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canals which had silted up and were re-excavated, under Sir
Donalf McNabb and other Deputy Comrnissioners of the Dis-
trict, by owners and lessees to irrigate their own lands. They
also irrigated the lands of other persons on payment of a water

rate.!

THE UPPER SATLUJ CANALS

The Upper Satluj Canals comprised a group of Imperial
system of four inundation canals in the Panjab, known as the
Katora, Khanwah, Upper Sobag, and Lowar Sobag (or Lower
Sobag and Para) Canals. They took oft from the right bank of
the river Satluj and irrigated the low-lying land bounded on
the north by the old dry bed of the Beas, which separated it
from the tracts commanded by the Hari Doab Canal. The tract
commanded by the Katora Canal lay in Lahore District, and the
remainder in Montgomery. *

Area Irrigated

The canals existing at the end of 1903-04 aggregated’! 325
miles in length with 394 miles of distributories, and carried an
aggregate supply of 4,935 cubic feet per second. During the five
years ending 1903-04 they irrigated an average annual area of
3.5 lakhs or, inclusive of the land revenue due to irrigation,’”
5.4 lakhs per annum. The average annual working expenses
during the same period were 3.6 lakhs. There was, therefore, an
annual profit of 1.8 lakhs. No capital expenditure was recorded

against the canals till 1894-95; upto the end of 1903-04, it had
amounted to 17 lakhs.?

Lower Satluj Inundation Canals

It was an Imperial system of inundation canals, taking oftf
from the right bank of the Satluj and irrigating part of Multan

30. Shahpur District Gazetteer, p. 193.

Panjab Administration Reports, 1897-98, p. 235; 1919-20, p. 100.
31. Lahore District Gazetteers, pp. 210-211.

Panjab Administration Repcrt 1836-1897, p. 208.
32. Which was credited to the Canals in the accounts.

33. Panjab Administration Report 1897-98, pp. 232-234.
Lahore District Gazetteer, pp. 130-131.
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District. They were for the most part constructed in the middle
ot the eighteenth century by the Daudputras, a powerful tribe
who were 1n possession of this part of the country from the
downiall of the Mughals to the rise of Maharaja Ranjit Singh,
but one of the largest, the Diwanah, was excavated in 1831 by
Diwan Sawan Mal, who also enlarged and improved several
others. Excluding the Hajiwah canal, whose history is separate
from that of the rest, there were in 1850 nineteen of these canals:
those, however, had been gradually amalgamated, and in 1903
there were only three, the Mailsi, Muhammadwab-Sardarwah,
and Banawalwah. Lodhran canals of which the last two were
later amalgamated.”

Cultivated Area

The gross cultivable area commanded by these canals was
1,414 square miles. The canals generally flowed from April to
October; but since the Sirhind Canal had come into full opera-
tion the supply of water at the commencement and end of the
fiood season had been considerably reduced, and the actual area

irrigated in the five years ending 1903-04 was only 263 square
miles.

The Crops

The normal autumn crop was sown and matured with canal
water alone; but for the spring harvest only the preliminary
waterings required for ploughing and sowing were given Irom
the canal, and further irrigation was supplied from wells. The
maximum discharge was 5,000 cubic feet per second, and the
total length of main canals was 394 miles and of distributaries
328 miles. Clearance was affected by the labour oi the culti-
vators; the system was, however, finally abolished in 1903 and
rates were then paid. No capital account was kept for these
canals.

The Katora Canal ~

The Katora Canal had a bed-width of 55 feet, and an autho-
rised discharge of 685 cubic feet per second. It was made In

34. Panjab Administration Report 1896-1897, pp. 209.
Multan District Gazetlieer, pp. 147-150.
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1870-71, and followed the bed of a mullah for 21 miles, when
it separated into three channels called the Pakhoki, Atari, and
Chunnian distributaries.®® The Katora Canal takes of the river;:
Satluj at the village of Kassoki in the Kasur Tahsil about 9
miles above the Kaisar-i-Hind Railway Bridge over the river;
from there it takes a westerly course irrigation from 5,000 to
8,000 acres of land in 49 villages of the Kasur Tahsil, before it
reaches the town of Khudian, which is situated in the Chunian
Tahsil near the Kasur border.

The Khanwah Canal

The Khanwah had a bed-width of 65 feet, and an authorised
full supply of 1,290 cubic feet per second. The date of first
opening is not known; it is, however, recorded that the canal
was improved by Mirza Khan, a minister of emperor Akbar;
but it was neglected by his successors, and silted up. In the time
of Maharaja Ranjit Singh Diwan Radha Ram repaired the head
and cleared th2 channel, and the canal flowed from 1807 to 1823.
It was again neglected till 1841, when Fakir Chriagh-ud-din,
under the orders of Maharaja Sher Singh, had the canal repair-
ed, and it was in flow when taken over by the British Irrigation
department on the annexation of the Panjab in 1849.%

The Upper Sohag Canal

The Upper Sohag Canal had a bed-width of 60 feet, and
an authorized discharge of 1,940 cubic feet per second. It was
first made in 1827, and worked till 1840, when it was neglected;
and nothing further was done to it till 1855, when the canal
having been taken over by the British Irrigation Department,
the channel was again put into working order. Upper Suhag,
which take off the river at the villages of Jalloke and Mokal
in the Chunian Tahsil, about 35 & 40 miles respectively below
the Kaisar-i-Hind Railway Bridge, are the other inundation
canals. The total area irrigated in the third decade of the twen-
tieth century by these canals, within the district was on the
average 54,800 acres in 206 villages.

39. Lahore District Gazetteer, pp. 130-131.
36. Panjab Administration Report 1896-1897, pp. 207.
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The Lower Sohag Canal

The Lower Sohag Canal had a bed-width of 90 feet, and an
authorised discharge of 1,420 cubic feet per second. It may be
- said to date from 1816, when the first attempt to irrigate was
made by means of a dam across the Sohag nallah, which caused
it to overflow its banks. In 1831 another dam was made, and the
water was led on to the lands of Jawand Singh at Depalpur, who
was said to have obtained a large return from the water. After
some fighting the dam was demolished in 1833; and from that
date the canal existed only in name, irrigation being effected
on only 3,000 acres by lifts by means of a narrow cut 200 feet
wide. In 1885-86 the present regular canal was opend.”” The
canal follows nallah for 33 miles, till it gave off the Para Nallah.®

Two Branches

The canal continued in the form of two branches, one along
the Para nallah and the other along the Sohag nallah. The
Channel, however, was not formed in the bed, but consisted ot
an artificial cut, which was crossed and recrossed by the tor-
tuous dry nallahs. The canal was constructed mainly for the
purpose of bringing under cultivation 142 square miles of Gov-
ernment waste. This area was colonized by allotting parcels ot
land to chosen peasants from adjacent over-populated Districts.
For the purpose of allotment the land was divided into squares,
27.7 acres in area, and each alloiment consisted of 4 squares, or
111 acres. The canals being dry in the cold season the colonists
were required to construct wells at least one well per holding
being necessary.*”

Grey Canals

Grey Canals was a system of inundation canals, taking off
from the south bank of the Satluj and irrigating the low-lying
tracts of Ferozepore Districts. They took their name from Colo-
nal L. J. H. Grey, under whose orders, as Deputy Commissioner
of the District, they were constructed.

The work had started in 1875-76, when 11 canals were

37. Lahore District Gazetteer, pp. 130-131.
38. Panjab Administration Report 1896-1897, p. 207.
39. Panjab Administration Report 1896-1897, p. 207.
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made; the number was increased to 13 in 1883, and in 18385, after
the incorporation of the Fazilka Tahsil-Ferozepore District, two
of the canals were remodelled and extended so as to irrigate this
Tahsil. In addition to those, a new canal, named Kingwah, had
just been completed at a cost of 1.7 lakhs. The 14 canals varied
to length from 28 to 107 miles, in bed-width from 30 to 80 feet,
and in discharge from 283 to 640 cubic feet per second. Their
total length in 1,034 miles, and their aggregate discharge 6,340
cubic feet per second. Being inundation canals they ran only
when the Satluj was at a sufficient height. Up to and including
1905-06 the total cost on original works was 11.6 lakhs, and on
repairs and establishment 23.4 lakhs.*

Area Irrigated

The average area irrigated was approximately more than
227 square miles. The canals were remarkable as being cons-
tructed and maintained on the co-operative system without any
direct aid from Government, except a small grant towards the
cost of establishment in Fazilka which had been stopped since
the Settlement of 1902. The excavation work was performed
by the agriculturists whose lands the canal was to benefit, super-
vised by the ordinary revenue staff of the District. Since 1381
the special establishment required for their up-keep was met
by a charge of three to four annas per ‘ghumao’ and the annual
silt clearance and other works had been carried out at the ex-
pense of the irrigation at the average rate of 8 to 10 annas per
irrigated ‘ghumao’. In addition to those charges for maintenance,
a royalty of 12 annas per ‘ghumao’ of superior, and 6 annas per
‘chumao’ of inferior, crops was taken by Government.*!

Ghaggar Canals

The Ghaggar Canals was a group of an Imperial system of
minor canals, taking off from the Ghaggar. Owing to the waste
of water in the lakes and swamps of that river, and the insani-
tary condition to which the low-lying lands in the valley below
Sirsa were reduced, it was agreed between the British Govern-
ment and the State of Bikaner that the Dhanur Lake, about 8

40. Ferozepur District Gazetteer, pp. 184-183.
4], Ferozepur District Gazetteer, pp. 184-185.
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miles from Sirsa, should be converted into a reservoir by the
construction of a masonary weir at Otu, and that irrigation
should be effected by two canals, the northern and southern,
taking oftf from each end of the weir, with a combined capacity
of 1,000 cubic feet per second. The Bikaner State was to share
the canal supplies and meet a proportionate part of the cost.
The canals were constructed with famine labour in 1896-97.
and began to irrigate in the Monsoon of 1897.#

Area Irrigated

The areas commanded in British and Bikaner territory were
130 and 117 square miles, and the irrigable areas were 53 and
30 square miles, respectively. There were 95 miles of main
canals and 24 of distributories; and the total capital outlay to
the end of March, 1904, was 6.3 lakhs, of which 2.8 lakhs was
debited to Bikaner. These canals were never likely to show any

return on their capital cost, as only part of the irrigated area
was assessed to land revenue only.%

The Hajiwah Canal

The Hajiwah canal was included in the Lower Satluj sys-
tem. It was a private canal constructed in the time of Maharaja
Ranjit Singh, and its administration was taken over by the Bri-
tish Government in 1888 in consequence oi the mismanagement
of the owners. This action was authorised by the terms of a
deed executed in 1886, which the British Government had given
the owners a grant of 60,000 acres of land served by the canal, |
and it was upheld by the Privy Council 1901. The canal had a
bed-width of 30 feet, an average suppiy during the flood season
of 500 cubic feet per second, and a length of 39 miles. The ave-

rage area irrigated was only 53 square miles, as the alignment
was defective.*

Sidhnai Canal

Sidhnai Canal is an irrigation work, taking off from the left

42. Panjab Administration Report, 1896-13897, pp. 196-199.
43. Hissar District Gazetteer, pp. 144-145.

44. Panjab Administration Report 1897-98, pp. 233.
Lahore District Gazetteer, pp. 120-131.
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bank of the Ravi and watering part of Multan District. It deriv-
ed its name, meaning ‘straight’, from a remarkable reach of the
Ravi, which extended in a perfectly straight cutting for 10 or 12
miles from Tulamba to Sarai Sidhu. It was opened for irrigation
in 1886. The headworks consisted of a weir 737 feet long, built
across this reach. The main line had a bed-width of 90 feet and
a maximum discharge of 1,820 cubic feet per second. After 30
miles it divided into two large distributories, which between
them took nearly one-third of the whole supply. The very short
length of the canal compared with the area irrigated was one
cause of its financial success. There were in all thirteen main
distributory channels taking off from the main line, and three
subsidiary canals which took off from the river above the dam.*

Area Irrigated

The gross area commanded in 595 sqguare miles, of which
the greatest part was Government waste, and was settled by
Colonists brought ifrom wvarious parts of the Panjab the land
being given out for the most parts in 90-acre plots. Although
the whole of the water in the Sidhnai reacin could be turned into
the canal, the Ravi in the winter was often absolutely dry,
owing to the supply taken by the Bari Doab Canal, so that the
spring crop had to be matured by the aid of wells. The average
area irrigated, was approximately 190 square miles, and the

capital outlay was about 13 lakhs, giving the average annual
profit more than 11 per cent.*

Chenab Inundation Canals

This was a system of inundation canals, taking off from the
left bank of the Chenab below its confluence with the Ravi, and
irrigating part of the Multan and Shujabad tahsils of Multan
District. They were for the most part constructed by the Pathan
rulers of Multan and Shujabad, and were once thirteen in num-
ber; but by amalgamation the heads in the river were reduced
to four, the Mattihal, Wali Muhammad Sikandarabad, and Sik-
andrawah. As the canal-irrigated land was much lower than the

45. Panjab Administration Report 1896-97, pp 207-208.
46. Panjab Administration Report 1897-98, pp. 231-232.
Multan District Gazetteer, pp. 149-150.
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river-level in July and August, the outer banks of the canals
were made specially high and strong to keep the flood waters
from pouring over the cultivated land. and in certain lengths of
the river embankments were constructed. In this way there

was a chain of protection about 80 miles long on the east bank
of the river.”

Discharge of Canals

The maximum discharge of the canals was 5,200 cubic feet
per second; there were 252 miles of main canals and 46 miles of
Government distributories. The system by which the cultivators,
in lieu of paying for the water, provided labour for silt clearance
were abolished, and occupiers’ rates imposed. No capital account
was Kept for these canals. The gross revenue approximately
averaged 3.3 lakhs yearly, and the net revenue Rs. 47,000. The
average area irrigated was more than 214 square miles.*

Muzaftargarh Canals

Muzattargarh Canals groups was an Imperial system of in-
undation canals, taking off from the left bank of the Indus and
the right bank of the Chenab, and irrigating portions of Muzai-
fargarh District. They were for the most part constructed the
native rulers of the District, and improved by Sawan Mal, Gov-
ernor under Maharaja Ranjit Singh. After annexation these
canals remained for many years under the management of the
Deputy Commissioner and were transferred to the Canal Depart-
ment as a ‘minor’ work in 1880. The system of canal clearance
by the labour of the cultivators was finally abolished in 1903,
when occupiers’ rates were introcduced. The Indus series, which
was by far the more important of the two, consisted of eight
canals with an aggregate length of 1.38 miles of main, branch,
and distributory channels, and a total average discharge ot 2,970
cubic feet per second. There were five canals in the Chenab
series, with a total length of 232 miles and a discharge of 740
cubic feet per second.

Area Irrigated

The gross area commanded by the canals was 1,205 square

‘el 5 " e -

47. Panjab Administration Report 1896-97, pp. 203-206.
43. Multan District Gazetteer, pp. 147-148.
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miles, of which 1,055 were cultivable and 547 irrigable, the area
irrigated approximately averaged 457 square miles, of which
366 square miles were watered from the Indus. To protect the
irrigated country, embankments were constructed, stretching for
119 miles along the Indus and for 40 miles along the Chenab.
No capital account was kept for the system. The gross revenue
was estimated at 6 lakhs and the net revenue 3.3 lakhs.

Indus Inundation Canals

The Indus inundation canals was the group of an imperial
system of inundation, taking oft from the west bank of the Indus
and irrigating part of Dera Ghazi Khan District. They were
fourteen in number and covered a river frontage of 175 miles,
protecting a low-lying narrow strip of country from 6 to 16
miles wide, known as the Sind. These were mostly constructed
by the Mirani chiefs and other native rulers, and were greatly
improved by Sawan Mal Governor under Maharaja Ranjit Singh.
Five, however, were constructed by Baloch Chiefs in 1862-63
for the use of their tribal lands, but proving a hnancial failure
were bought up by the British Government.

Area Irrigated

The gross area commanded was 1,374 square miles, of which
661 were cultivable. The greatest area of crops matured was
348 square miles, and the average about 300 square miles. The
normal period of flow was from the beginning of May to the
end of September; consequently, while the autumn crop was
matured entirely by canal water, the supply in the spring har-
vest was sufficient only for ploughing and sowing, after which
wells were used. o

The average discharge of the whole series was, 2,400 cubic
teet per second. There were 680 miles of main canals and bran-
ches, of which 108 were constructed under British rule, 75 miles
of distributories, and 7 of drainage cuts and escapes. As the
irrigated tract was below the flood-level of the Indus, a system
of embankment 75 miles long was built, and also works for
training the river and protecting the irrigation works. The capi-
tal sum expended from 1854 to the end of March, 1904, was 8.6
lakhs. Until 1897 there was practically no net revenue; in that
year, by the revised settlement of Dera Ghazi Khan District,
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the indirect revenue was substantially increased and a low
occupiers rate imposed. The gross revenue was about 4.1 lakhs
and the net revenue 1 lakh, or 11.88 per cent, on the capital

expenditure. A considerable income was derived from Govern-
ment lands on the Dhundi canal.®®

TRIPLE PROJECT

(1) Upper Jhelum; (2) Upper Chenab; (3) Lower Bari Doab
Canal.

The Lower Chenab Canal took the whole available supply
of the Chanab river. But it did not command a large area in the
Rechna Doab lying in the west of Gujranwala, in which ran
cultivation was very risky and well cultivation was costly. No
help could be got from the Ravi, as the Upper Bari Doab Canal
exhausted its supply. It was, thus, desirable to extend irrigation
in the area mentioned above. The bold scheme known as the
Triple Project which embraced the construction of the Upper
Jhelum, Upper Chenab and Lower Bari Doab Canals, had based
on the belief that the Jhelum river had even in the cold weather
water to spare after feeding the Lower Jhelum Canal.

The true ‘Raison D’etre’ of the Upper Jhelum Canal
whose head-works were at Mangla in Kashmir a little north of
the Gujarat district, was to throw a large volume of water into
the Chenab at Khanki, where the Lower Chenab Canal took off,
and so set free an equal supply to be taken out of the Chenab
‘higher up at Murala in Sialkot, where were the head-works of
the Upper Chenab Canal. But the Upper Jhelum Canal had also
water annually some 345,000 acres in Gujarat and Shahpur. The
Upper Chenab Canal thus irrigated 648,000 acres in (Gujaran-
wala, and carried across the Ravi by an agqueduct at Balloke in
the south of Lahore. Henceforth the canal was known as the
Lower Bari Doab, which watered 882,000 acres, mostly owned
by the State, in the Montgomery and Multan Districts. On the
other two canals the area of Government land was not large.

1. Upper Jhelum Canal

In the first year of irrigation from this canal supply reached

49, Panjab Administration Report 1896-1897, pp. 209-210.
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five-eighths of its maximum discharge. A large new canal with
high embankments required a continuous increase in supply.
The area 1rrigated was only 117,605 acres as against 245,000
acres anticipated in the Project forecast. The shortage was due
to the fact that irrigation commenced a year later than was

anticipated.
2. Upper Chenab Canal: Area Irrigated

The monsoon was above the normal and the ‘kharif’ crops
were very fair in the year of 1916-1917, but the winter season
was again abnormally dry and the river supplied again usually
low; great difficulty was consequently experienced in maturing
the ‘rabi’ crops. 9 per cent. of which failed. The increase in the
‘kharif’ area (from 159,152 in 1915-16 to 265,917 acre during
the vear 1916-1917) was remarkable, but the ‘rabi’ area, on the
other hand, dropped from 165,910 to 151,560 acres. The total
direct receipts forecast, but the indirect receipts (Rs. 2,54,872)
were short by Rs. 4,98,744; this was because the system of
indirect credit on this canal was complicated and had not been
fully settled. The Deg diversion embank was maintained intact
although the flcod water reached as high a level as in 1914; the
diversion channel had scoured satistactorily and the possibility
of damage by iloods had been reduced.

3. Lower Bari Doab: Area Irrigated

The total area irrigated by the Lower Bari Doab Canal
(014,936) acres was short by 135,064 acres in 1916-17 as com-
pared with tthe Project {forecast. The working of this canal had
not been fully established as yet owing to the supply in the
Upper Jhelum Canal (which was opened in December 1915—a
year later than anticipated in the Project) having been still short
of full design. Cautious increase of the Upper Jhelum Canal
supply was necessary for safety. The Lower Pari Doab Canal
supply was however more than enough for the area allotted and
the canal was in advance of colonization. Proprietory lands
were brcken up and were being irrigated. The total area of
Crown waste land allotted at the end of the year 1916-17,
was 606,391 acres out of the 791,994 acres of culturable area
commanded.®

“

20. Panjab Administration Report 1916-17, p. 48.

Digitized by Panjab Digital Library | www.panjabdigilib.org




26 PANJAB UNDER THE BRITISH RULE

Assessment Of The Canalisation : Divided Into Three Classes

System of the canalisation of the Panjab may thus be divid-
ed into three broad classes. (a) In the first canal water was
applied to land, already largely cultivated by old settled in-
habitants who relied for the ripening of their crops on the rain-
fall, eked out occasionally by wells. The loss due to vicissitudes
of season were heavy in 1922 the Director of Land Records found
that in the province as a whole the normal rate of crop failure
mainly due to deficient or unseasonal rainfall, was 21 per cent.
Since then irrigation was widely extended and the average
failure was 195 per cent, it was sometimes as high as 65 per cent.
The summer (kharif) crop was the heavier sufferer, and the per-

centage of failure then was 21 per cent, as compared with 14
for the ‘rabi’ or winter crop.

Seasonal Vicissitudes

On an acreage of 30 million, the total loss from this cause
was enormous, representing to the cultivator a waste of im-
mense labour, time and expenditure. Were this loss concentrated
into one area, it would receive far more attention than it did.
A cautious estimate would put it at round about eight to ten
crores, a heavy toll to be paid by the Panjab cultivators as the
price of seasonal vicissitudes. In those seitled areas, the canals
had reduced these loss and increased the profit of cultivation;
they had made agriculture more safe and given to the worker
greater command over this operations, including a greater choice
over the crops he may grow. They had further encouraged him

to put under the plough much land formerly left waste or cul-
tivated only in seasons of good rainfall.

Two Outstanding Results

, Two outstanding results may be mentioned; formerly the
cotton grown was limited to the requirements of the home and
little left the village, now a great trade had grown up and the
area shown had increased to meet the demand from a wider
market. Secondly, the cultivator had been enabled to grow more
wheat with the result that it had largely displaced the millets
in the daily diet, even of the poorer classes.

2. The second class of State canals were either cuts designed
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to inundate large areas on the banks of the rivers during the
flood season or were reconstructions or replacements of those by
channels with head regulators gave a controlled supply. To a
considerable extent the areas served by these had previously
been partially cultivated, with the aid of wells, but the new
works brought water to large tracts which previously had pos-
sessed little settled cultivation. Multan and Muzaffargarh con-
tain examples, and the extension to new areas is illustrated by
the Sidhnai Canal colony. As these canals were originally de-
sighed to function during the flood seasons only, their main
object was to moisten the land for ‘rabi’ (winter) crops and to
ripen such summer (Kharif) crops as could be sown. For the
ripening of the winter crops, wells were required and their
construction was made a compulsory condition of grants in the
areas colonised under these non-perennial canals.

3. The third class of canal is the great group of colony works
designed to bring water to vast areas of desert waste in the great
Panjab Doabs in the centre and south-west of the province. In
these areas the annual rainfall was usually below 15 inches; in
a large part it was below 12 inches and in the south-west it was
below 7, in all cases too little to ensure the ripening of crops
unaided by wells or other artificial means. Here, irrigation was
not designed to assist agriculture and diminish the losses from
seasonal vagaries, but to create it where before it did not exist.
Scattered about were old wells, and in odd depressions where
rain collected a little precarious cultivation had been possible;
but there is little exaggeration in describing this great Central
and South-western area as mainly desert prior to the inaugura-
tion of the great Chenab, Jhelum, Bari Doab and Triple Canal
projects.

Gave Great Prosperity to the Panjab

The Upper Jhelum differed from the rest in as much as
1t had no weir across the river, this triumph of engineering being
skillfully designed to make use of a natural shingle bar; the
rest were provided with weirs and the water in the rivers was
under strict control. The great colonies made possible by these
huge works were the creation of a great co-operation between
the most skilled body of water engineers in the world, construc-
tive administrators of the Panjab. They enjoyed a prosperity
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such as the older settled districts could match and they bore
witness to the high standard of periection both of the irrigation
system and of the schemes of colonization. As Lord Curzon re-
marked they had converted the province from a battlefield of
frontier warfare into a home of contented and peaceful pea-
santry. Upon the human element their effect was no less remark-
able; the opportunities for hard work under more responsive
conditions then prevailed in their home districts had moulded
the character of the colonists and developed a sense of pride in
their economic well-being that should strengthen the opposition
to any tendency towards a Jowering of the standard ot living.

New Experiments

For the student of rural economics, these great experiments,
will afford much material for the scientific examination of many
theories. It is unfortunate that the standard areas ifor grants
were fixed not with any relation to economic needs of a family
but to fit in with a survey but, as it happened the square or
rectangle adopted (25 or 27.8 acres) represents about double the
area considered by the people as that which can-be managed

with a single yoke of oxen, and the ordinary holding of a tenant
is half a square or rectangle.

Land Belonged to the State

Again, the land belonged to the State, and such rights as
then existed were derived directly from the State although
opportunities for purchase were provided in the conditions of
the grants. The political theorist who advocated the nationalisa-
tion of the land would find here in existence the conditions he
demanded, although much of his dreams would be dissipated
by the reality. The continuous agitation irom the State tenants
for more and ever more concessions could serve as a warning
to those who urged that the abolition of the private landlord
would remove all the troubles of agriculture; moreover the
dangers of political pressure from a poweriul body of the State
tenants, seeeking their own selfish advantiage at whatever cost
to their less fortunate brethren, could illustrate the need for
caution in bringing the Government into too close touch with
the people.

In the realms of education, public health, medical aid, roads
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etc., the demand for more amenities from the State could be
countered by the State’s demand for more taxes to meet the
ever increasing expenditure; but only a part of the Panjab was
then irrigated, and concessions granted to those who enjoyed
the benefits were apt to bring less not only to those but to the
less fortunate holders of land dependent on rain who might be

called upon to make up part of the deficit entailed by granting
valuable privileges to others. .

Statistics

It is unfortunate that the statistics for the areas colonized
was nhot kept distinct from those of the administrative districts
in which they lay, with the result that they were confused with
those of sometimes distinctly backward tracts.”'

The above five districts included the greater part but not
the whole of the Canal Colonies; the irrigated area sown in a
single year was over six million acres, while of the area depen-
dent on rainfall less than one million acres was cultivated be-
fore 1530, and of that over half was in Shahpur where the rain-
fall was 15 inches a year. Montgomery had slightly over 10 in-
ches, Lyallpur 13, Multan 6.8 and Jhang 10 inches. The colo-
nies extend into Gujranwala and Sheikhupura with nearly one

and a half million acres irrigated, but they also inciude old
settled areas.

e e -

0l. Some idea of development within fifty years (1881-1931) may be

derived from the following figures for population at different census
enumerations :—

District 1881 1891 1901 1911 1921 1931
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o
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Montgomery 384,312 416,599 429674 481865 685,690 999,772

Lyallpur 53,832 46,629 576,926 824470 957,881 1,151,351
Multan 555,516 634,538 709,297 813,357 889,328 1,174,900
Jhang 390,630 402,341 426,225 524,803 570,559 664,863
Shahpur 382,652 478,289 488,149 645,001 719,918 821,490

=l - o l._l_'-d—:-*—i— - —_ - .

Total: — 1,731,042 1,978,693 2,630,294 3,289,496 3,823,376 4,912 346
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Trade and Commerce Flourished

It would be difficult to give anything approaching an accu-
rate estimate of the new wealth annually accruing from those
great schemes; they had revolutionised the economic position of
the Panjab and its people, not only of the colonists but of the
great trading classes, and they had brought undreamed of wealth
to the professional classes in the large towns. Elsewhere it will
be shown how small was the commerce in Panjab products, how
little the imports before the great schemes achieved fruition;
and the enormous addition to the wealth oi the province was
reflected in its cultural as well as in its material progress.

In old settled districts a large proportion and in the colonies
the whole of the annual yield must be credited to irrigation. In
Amritsar, for instance, the Director of Land Records had esti-
mated that the outturn of wheat was five maunds more on
irrigated than on unirrigated land, although the annual rainfall
was on the average over 24 inches. In Lyallpur the same autho-
rity estimated the difference at nine maunds. But some addition
to that could be made for the greater area that failed to mature
in unirrigated land. The Irrigation Department gave annually a
modest estimate of the value of crops ripened under canal water;
in 1928-29 Rs. 46 per acre; in 1929-30 Rs. 41 per acre; in 1930-31
owing to the great depression the figure fell to Rs. 25 per acre. It
might be estimated that in a normal year crops worth from
Rs. 40 to 50 crores were raised on irrigated lands, of which fromn
Rs 25 to 33 crores are entirely due to the canals.

A Precaution

Of the canals in the province the greater works were pro-
ductive; others were primarily protective, that is to say, design-
ed to protect the tract against famine or severe scarcity. On the
continuous efficient working of the system millions of people
were dependent for the means of subsistence; the greater part
of the area in the colonies had few wells and insufficient rainfall
in a normal year to ripen a crop, so that the breakdown which
interrupted the flow of water for a lengthy period would bring
widespread disaster in its train. To ensure that the canals were
kept in good working order and to save millions from the threat
of loss of their livelihood if not of actual starvation, there was
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engaged a highly skilled body of engine=rs and subordinates,

and large sums were yearly to be placed at their disposal to
avoid risk.

The irrigation system then involved the province in 3 items
of heavy responsibility, the interest charges on the capital sum
borrowed, the cost of administration and the cost of maintenance
and repair. To cover these there was levied a charge per acre
irrigated and matured which was locally known as ‘abiana’ or
water-rate. As this charge was repeatedly coming under critic-
ism, not always well-informed, it seemed desirable to explain
the economic aspect. The sums collected as water-rate were so

large in the gross that they appeared excessives, and crltlcs
were apt to assume that there was room for reduction.

THE BHAKRA DAM AND OTHER PROJECTS

The above projects were merely provided for diverting the
ordinary flow of the rivers into channels whence it could be
used for irrigation. They made no provision for the utilization
of the enormous surplus available when the rivers were swol-
len by the melting Himalyan snows in summer. The Satluj
Valley Project was based on a minimum expectation of 6,500
cusecs, and the river flow had fallen below that in dry winters,
yet 400,000 cusecs went down in flood just as the Sulaimanki
weir was reaching completion.

There was plenty of arid land. It was {or the impounding of
some of it that the Bhakhra Dam on the Satiuj was designed.
The dam first proposed was to be 395 feet high to hold up a
lake with a capacity of two and a half million foot-acres which
was sufficient to give 6,000 cusecs for 200 days in the year. A
bigger scheme contemplated making the dam a hundred feet
higher (495 feet in all) and storing river below Phillour, from
which point a new canal be four and three quarters million
foot-acres. |

The lesser scheme would add one and three million acres to
the acres irrigated by the Sirhind Canal and by taking some of
the work then done by the Western Jumna Canal it could enable
the latter to irrigate another half million acres. This involved
the enlargement of the existing Sirhind Canal and the construc-
tion of a weir on the Satluj constructed to take a portion of the
irrigation of the existing Sirhind Canal. A new channel was to
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be constructed from the tail of the Main Line of the existing
Sirhind Canal, across to the Sirsa Branch of the Western Jumna
Canal which would in future be fully supplied from thence. The
supply in the Western Jumna Canal thus set free, the Sirsa
Branch was to be utilized for the irrigation of all the unirrigated
land south-west of the Western Jumna Canal. The Project was
estimated to cost about fourteen and a half crores to give an
increased irrigated area of over two million acres, and to yield
a return of 7 per cent, on the capital outlay.*

The Wular Project

Under this scheme irrigation was to be extended, irrespec-
tive of territorial boundaries, wherever physically possible in
the tract between the Satluj and Jumna rivers, excluding the
submontane tract, which, however, could subsequently be irri-
gated by means of tube-wells if sufficient water power was
developed by the project. A much smaller project of the same
nature was the Wular Lake Barrage Project which provided
for the construction of a barrage on the river Jhelum at Sopor,
just below its exit irom the Wular Lake in Kashmir, the project
was to impound water in that lake during the summer, for use
in the winter by the Panjab Canals, offtaking from the Jhelum
and the Chenab rivers. This project still formed the subjects of
negotiataons with the Kashmir State Government.>

Thain Project

The Ravi could also apparently be headed up at Thain, in
a reservoir for the use of the Lower and Upper Bari Doab
Canals, thereby increasing their cocld weather supply by 20 per
cent, with presumably the power to take double the amount in
the summer. Much could also be done with the tributaries of the
oreat rivers. The Degh was an absurd channel which ran
through Gujranwala. A narrow miserable stream in the winter,
it came down in great spates, Road, and causing water-
Jlogging in various areas watered by the Upper Canal. A
sood proportion of its run-off could be held up within the hills
and let down quietly as required, thereby substituting an irriga-

- - . _ - . " " L.

02. Panjab Administration Report p. 381.
03. Panjab Adminisiration Report p. 382.
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tional canal for a periodically destructive torrent.

The Chakki torrent was familiar to travellers to Dalhousie
and Dharamsala. Its bed was merely sand and boulders for much
of the year. But at intervals it became a raging stream which
did much damage in Gurdaspur and at the headworks of the
upper Bari Canal. I, as believed, it could be dammed with suc-
cess, the holding up of the waters could also had a double value
in utilizing an element which was then purely destructive.
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THE PANJAB STATE (1849-1947)

The Native States with which the Government of the Panjab
had political relations were of two classes, viz.,, Dependent and
Feudatory States and Independent States. There were 34 De-
pendent and Feudatory States. A brief account of these states
is given for the general interest of students of history. The
political position of these states in the north ot India for about
two centuries had been so important such as to deserve indivi-

dual treatment at our hands.

Panjab Gun Saluted States

Out of 34 Panjab States, 14 were entitled for gun salutes.

Name of the
State

Areain

Patiala

Kapurthala
Jind
Nabha
Faridkot
Malerkotla
Mandi
Chamba
Nahan

. Bilaspur
Suket
Loharu
Bashahr

R Y e

ok ped  pwd ek ed
WO ®

Toal

* Includes the income of about 20 lacs from Oudh Estate.

** In Simla Hill

Bahawalpur

Population Annual Salute
sq. miles of State Revenue in guns
(1921)
5,932 15.0 lacs 163 lacs 19
15,000 781 |, 49 . 17
630 2.84 491 15*
1,259 3.08 28 ,, 15
928 2.63 ,, 25 13
643 1.51 ,, 19 11
168 80,000 14 11
1,200 1.85 lacs 13 ,, 11%*
3,216 1.42 |, 9 |, 11**
1,200 140 ,, 6 ,, 11%*
448 98,000 3 11**
420 54,000 2.34 ,, 11*%*
222 21,000 1.31 ,, 9
3,820 86,000 3.34 9
40.93 lacs 384.99 lacs
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The salute of guns was in recognition of the princes by which
they were enjoying their respective positions and prestige.

THE PHULKIAN STATES
Geography

The three Phulkian States' of Patiala, Jind and Nabha
formed a political agency under the Panjab Government. They
occupied, with Bahawalpur and Hissar, the bulk of that great
wedge of light loam and sand which Rajasthan, physically con-
sidered, pushed northwards almost of the Satluj. In the Phulkian
States this consisted of two tracts the Powadnh and Jangal Des.
The former, which occupied the north and north-east of their
territory, possessed a light fertile loam soil and a very moderate
natural water level, so that well irrigation was easy. The Jangal
Des was a great tract of sandy loam and sand in the south-west.
Water lay too deep for the profitable working of wells, but the
harvests were far less insecure than one could look to the scanti-
ness of the rainfali. The soil was wonderfully cool and drought-
resisting.

Cultivation

The dry cultivation consisted of millets in the Autumn, and
of gram and mixed crops of wheat or barley in the spring har-
vest. These three erstwhile states had rather more than a one-
third share in the Sirhind Canal, and the portions of the Powadh
and Jangal Des were irrigated. In the case of Powadh there had
been in some places over irrigation considering how near the
surface the water table was. The Narwana tahsil in Patiala and
the part of Jind which lay between Karnal and Rohtak was a
bit of the Bangar tract of the south-eastern Panjab, with a
strong loam soil and a naturally deep water level. The former
received irrigation from the Sirsa, and the latter from Hansi
branch of the Western Jamna Canal. The outlying tracts of the
south of Rohtak and Gurgaon, acquired after the Mutiny ot
1857, were part of the dry sandy Rajasthan desert, in which the
'kharif’ was the chief harvest, and the millets and gram the
principal crops.

_—“—__—_—_

1. Area 7919 sq. miles.
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In addition, Patiala State had an area of 294 square miles
of territory immediately below and the Simla Hills. The terri-
tory of the Phulkian States was scattered and intermixed, and
they had pockets in British districts and vice versa, a natural
result of their historic origin and development.

History

Phul was the sixth in descent from Baryam, a Sidhu Jat,
to whom Babar gave the ‘Chaudhriyat’ of the wild territory of
the south-west of Delhi, making him in effect a Lord of the
Marches. The country and more which elapsed between the
grant of the ‘Chaudhriyat’ and Phul’s death in 1652 were f{illed
with continual fighting with the Bhattis. Phul’s second son Rama
obtained from the Governor of Sirhind the ‘Chaudhriyat’ of the
Jangal Des. When Ahmed Shah defeated the Sikhs near Bar-
nala in 1762, Rama’s son, Ala Singh, was one of his prisoners.
He was a Chief of such importance that his conqueror gave him
the title of Raja and the right to coin money. But Ala Singh
found it prudent to join next year in the capture of Sirhind.
From the division of territory which followed the separate exis-
tence of the Phulkian States began and they came under British
protection in 1809. The Raja of Patiala was the British ally in
the Anglo-Gurkha War in 1814, and received the Pinjaur tahsil.
The active loyalty displayed in the Mutiny of 1857 was suitably
rewarded by accessions of territory. The right of adoption was
conferred, and special arrangements made to prevent lapse, it
nevertheless the line in any state failed.

1. PATIALA T
Geography

Patiala occupied five-seventh of the Phulkian inheritance.
The predominant agricultural tribe was the Jats, over three-
fourths of whom were Sikhs. The cultivated area was 4/5th of
the total area. Over one-fourth of the former was irrigated, 27
p.c. from wells, and the rest by the two canals. In an area°
extending with breaks from Simla to the Rajasthan desert the
variations of agriculture were of course extreme. The state was

2, Area, 5,412 square miles.
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excellently served by railways.

Nizamats

There were five ‘nizamats’ or districts, Pinjaur, Amargarh,
Karmgarh, Anahadgarh and Mahindargarh. Their united area
was equivalent to that of two ordinary British districts. The
Pinjaur nizamat with headquarters at Rajpura covered 825
square miles. Of its four tahsiis Pinjaur contained the submon-
tane and hill tract, part of the latter being quite close to Simla.
The other three tahsils Rajpura, Banur and Ghanaur were in the
Powadh. The Amargarh nizamat with an area of 855 square
miles comprised the three tahsils of Fatehgarh, Sahibgarh and
Amargarh.

The first two were rich and fertile well tracts. Amargarh
was in the Jangal Des to the south-west of Sanibgarh. It receiv-
ed irrigation irom the Kotla branch of the Sirhind Canal. The
Karmgarh nizamat with an area of 1835 square miles contained
the four tahsils of Patiala, Bhowanigarh, Sunam and Nirwana.
The headquarters were at Bhawanigarh. The first three were
partly in the Powadh and partly in the Jangal Des. Nirwana
was in the Bangar. There was much irrigation from the Sirhind
and Western Jamna Canals. The Anahadgarh nizamat lay whol-
ly in the Jangal Des. It had an area of 1836 square miles, and
was divided into three tehsils, Anahadgarh, Bhikhi, and Govind-
garh. The headquarters were at Barnala or Anahadgarh. The
Mahindargarh nizamat lay far away to the south on the borders
of Jaipur and Alwar. Its area was only 576 miles and it had two

tahsils, Mahindargarh or Kanaud and Narnaul. Kanaud was the
headquarters.

History

Raja Ala Singh, the founder of the erstwhile Patiala State
died in 1765 and was succeeded by his grandson Amar Singh
(1765-17381), who was occupied in continual warfare with his
brother and his neighbours. His son, Sanib Singh (1781-18109),
came under British Protection in 1809. Karam Singh (1813-1843).
his successor, was the British ally in Anglo-Gurkha War. Maha-
raja Narinder Singh, K.C.S.I. (1845-1862), was a wise and brave
man, who gave manful and most important help in the Mutiny
of 1857, to the British Government. His son, Maharaja Mahinder
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Singh (1862-1376), succeeded at the age of ten and died 14 years
later. His eldest son, Maharaja Rajindar Singh (1876-1900), was
only four when he succeeded and died at the age of 28. In the
Anglo-Gurkha Campaign, in the Anglo-Sikh Wars, and in the
Mutiny, the forces of Patiala lent their valuable aid to the Bri-
tish Government.

In the critical days of 1857 Maharaja Narinder Singh was
instrumental in saving Panjab; and Lord Canning himself at a
later date officially acknowledged his services as being of incal-
culable value. Maharaja Narinder Singh died in the prime of
life in 1862 after having governed his territories with wisdom,
firmness and benevolence, while performing the most eminent
service to the British crown. Maharaja Rajinder Singh improved
the resources of the State by large extensions of irrigations,
and interested himself much in the extension of education, sani-
tation and medical relief. He ofitered his forces to the Govern-
ment of India for the Manipur expedition of 1891 and the Mala-
kand Campaign of 1895. In 1897 his troops joined the Mohmad
Field Force and later took part in the Tirah Expedition, the
Maharaja himself serving on the staff in the field. In 1900 His
Highness died suddenly when only twenty-eight years old,
having left a reputation for generosity, hospitality and sports-
manship.

Maharaja Bhupindar Singh

The services of Patiala State for the British Government
were notable. In addition to the Imperial Service Corps while
in the crisis of 1918 during the First World War Maharaja Bhu-
pindar Singh offered to raise three Battallions of infantry in
addition to maintaining the flow of recruits to the units already
in the field. The total expenditure on tne State War service
during the war, including contribution {o the various loans,
amounted to one and one-third crores of rupees. The personal
efforts of His Highness and his State which were recognized by
inviting him to participate in the War Conference in 1918, where
he did much good work winning for him fresh laurels as a states-
man.> At this juncture, over sixty thousand men from this State,
which had a total higher than the best of any British District

e slaany E—— T S

3. Ruling Princes & Chief of India, pp. 261-62.
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and four times as much as that of any other Indian Princely
state, went to the front.* He developed into a first class sports-
man, an astute politician and an able administrator. It was he
who was mostly responsible for giving Patiala a prominent place
on the political map. Well above the average in Princely order,
he was practically a life Chancellor of the Chamber of Princes.
He attended the Imperial War Conference in 1918 as a represen-
tative of the Indian States, and in 1928, he presented the Princes’
case before the Indian States Committee. He was also selected
as one of the representatives of the Princes at the Round Table

Conference in London in 1930. Maharaja Bhupindar Singh died
in 1938. ' '

Maharaja Yadvindra Singh

Maharaja Bhupindar Singh was succeeded by Maharaja
Yadvindra Singh. His Highness Maharaja Yadvindra Singh was
born on January 7, 1913. On the completion of his education at
the Aitcheson College, Lahore in 1930. He succeeded his father
to the gaddi on March 23, 1938. Like a progressive ruler, as he
is, he immediately ordered the repeal of all oppressive laws like
the Shikar and Nazul laws and abolished as many as eleven
Shikar or Game Preserves to provide more land for agriculture
and to save it from its enemies. On the out-break of World War
IT in 1939 he founded the Khalsa Defence of India L.eague which
sent thousand of stalwart Panjabis to the colours. He also per-
sonally went to the Italian theatre of war, the Middle East and
Malaya. '

His Highness has been a guiding light in the politics of the
Princely Order ever since he became the Pro-Chancellor of the
Chamber of Princes in 1943. He took leading part in the nego-
tiations with the Cabinet Mission in 1946. '

Patiala State under Maharaja Yadvindra Singh gave 65,000
recruits to the Indian Army. This was in addition to the recruit-
ment going on for the Patiala State Forces. The Recruiting Offi-
cers, Jullundur, Hissar, Ferozepore, Ajmer and Delhi were pay-
ing visits to various places in the State and were provided with
every facility to carry on the work of recruitment for the vari-
ous branches of the Indian Army.

4. A History of the Sikhs, Vol. II-Khushwant Singh, p. 160.
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Military Contributions

The Patiala Rajindra Lancers, the Ist Rajindra Sikhs and
the 2nd Yadvindra Infantry remained on active service. All the
expenses of these units were borne by the State. Four infantry
battalions were expanded to full active regiments and an In-
fantry Training Battalion was raised. The Army Training School,
the Mechanical Transport Section and the Patiala Wireless Sec-
tion were re-organised as separate units. A full Mechanical
Transport Company was raised and remained on active service.
The new recruits were given fullest possible training in all
branches of modern warfare. On account of reorganisation of
the Patiala State Forces, the military budget which used to be
Rs. 15 lakhs had risen to about Rs. 45 lakhs.

His Highness on the War Front

No sooner the Second world war (1939-45) was declared
than His Highness in keeping with the hallowed martial tradi-
tions of his House cherished a keen desire to be amidst fight-
ing forces on any one of the war fronts. But in the Second
World War maintaining of the home front as well as the morale
of the people was no less important than fighting on the war
front. As later events showed His Highness’ presence at home
front proved of immense value in building up the huge war eflfort
in sending up a continuous stream of men at the various theatres
of war. His Highness as the accredited leader of the Sikhs, not
only arrayed the great potential strength of the Sikh community
against the enemies of freedom but was also responsible for
keeping up the state war efforts to its colossal dimensions. His
Highness had returned from a tour of Italy and the Middle East.
During the course of his last tour extending over a month he
visited troops in Egypt, Syria, Palestine, Paiiorce and Italy.
This was His Highness’ third tour of a battle-front.° Despite his
heavy pre-occupations, His Highness paid a visit to Malaya
Peninsula just before the attack by the Japanese took place on
Singapore. His Highness was the first Indian prince to pay a
visit to this theatre of war. Subsequently His Highness visited
the Assam front when the Japs were indulging in an attempt to

5. The Patiala Post, April-May 1945, pp. 33-34.
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invade India.
He was one of the first prince who acceded to the Union

of India and helped in the integration of the country with the
formation of State Unions on the lines of British Indian pro-
vinces. The covenant of Patiala and East Panjab States Union
was signed on May o, 1948, and it was inaugurated on July 19,
1948, by the Hon’ble Sardar Vallabhbhai Patel with His High-
ness as its life-Rajpramukh. His Highness took over the admi-
nistration of the Patiala and the EKast Panjab States Union on
August 20, 1948.

2. JIND
Geography

One third of the population of Jind® consisted of Hindu and
Sikh Jats. There were two nizamats, Sangrur and Jind: the
latter consisted of the tahsils of Jind and Dadri. The Sangrur
villages were interspersed among those of the other Phulkian
States, and formed a part of the Jangal Des. Jind was in the
Bangar, and Dadri, was separated from Jind by the Rohtak
district, and partly in the sandy Rajasthan desert. The rainfall
varied from 17 inches at Sangrur to ten inches at Dadri. San-
grur was irrigated by the Sirhind Canal and Jind by Western
Jamana Canal. Dadri was a dry sandy tract, in which the Autumn
millets were the chief crops. The revenue in 1911-12 was 19

lakhs (£126,700).’

HISTORY
Raja Bhag Singh

The real founder of the State was Gajpat Singh, who was
a chief of great vigour. But the ruling family of Jind also be-
longs to the dynasty of Phul, descending from Chandhari Tiloka.
His son Sukhchain Singh was the father of Raja Gajpat Singh,
with whom the history of the State is especially connected with
Gajpat Singh was born in the year 1938 and grew up to a fine
handsome youth, well skilled in all military exercises. He con-

6. Area 1,259 square miles.
7. Panjab and the N.W.F.P. & Kashmir, Douie, p. 276.
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quered Jind in 1774, deprived of his relative, the chief of Nabha
and Sangrur. He died in 1789. His successor, Raja Bhag Singh,
was a good ally of the British Government. His daughter Bibi
Raj Kaur was the mother of Maharaja Ranjit Singh. Raja Bhag
Singh assisted Lord Lake in his operations against the Marathas.
Raja Bhag Singh was the first of all the great Cis-Satluj chiefs
to seek an alliance with the British Government. Lord Lake
wrote of him "a friend and an ally.” He died after a long and
successful career in 1819. His son, Fateh Singh, survived him
by three years. Sangat Singh succeeded to troublous times and
died childless in 1834. His second cousin, Raja Sarup Singh, was
allowed by British Government to inherit only the territory
acquired by Gajpat Singh, from whom he derived his claim.

Raja Sarup Singh

| In 1822, Sangat Singh ascended the throne and on his death
in 1839 Government recognised Sarup Singh, a third cousin of
his, as the nearest male heir. During the Mutiny of 1857, Raja
Sarup Singh’s services were of a most valuable nature. The Jind
forces marched in advance of the British Column. Raja Sarup
Singh joined the British Camp at Alipore and in the battle of
Badli Serai the Jind troops behaved most gallantly and were
complimented on the field by the Commander-in-Chief, who
sent one of the captured guns to the Raja as a present. The Jind
force took a prominent part in the assault of Delhi, scaling the
walls side by side with English troops. He was the only chief
who was present with his Armyat Delhi, and in recognition of
his services Dadri Ilaga and 13 villages close to Sangrur were
sranted to him. Certain other privileges, such as the power of

adoption in case of failure of a male issue® was also granted.
He died in 1864.

Raja Raghubir Singh

His son Raghubir Singh (1864-1887) was a wvigorous and
successful ruler. He gave loyal help to British Government in
the Kuka outbreak (1872) and in the Second Anglo-Afghan
War. He was one of the most able and enlightened rulers, in-
defatigable in his eflorts to promote the prosperity of his people.
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